#### No. S274671

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### **ERIK ADOLPH**

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case Nos. G059860, G060198

Orange County Superior Court
Case No. 30-2019-01103801
The Honorable Kirk H. Nakamura, Presiding

LITTLER MENDELSON, P.C. Anthony G. Ly (228883) Sophia B. Collins (289318) Andrew M. Spurchise (245998) 2049 Century Park East Fifth Floor Los Angeles, California 90067 Telephone: (310) 553-0308

Facsimile: (310) 553-5583

ALy@littler.com

GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether an aggrieved employee who has been compelled to arbitrate claims under the Private Attorneys General Act (PAGA) that are "premised on Labor Code violations actually sustained by" the aggrieved employee (*Viking River Cruises, Inc. v. Moriana* (2022) 142 S.Ct. 1906, 1916; see Lab. Code, §§ 2698, 2699, subd. (a)) maintains statutory standing to pursue "PAGA claims arising out of events involving other employees" (*Viking River*, 142 S.Ct. at p. 1916) in court or in any other forum the parties agree is suitable.

#### INTRODUCTION

In Viking River Cruises, Inc. v. Moriana (2022) 142 S.Ct. 1906, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the Federal Arbitration Act requires the enforcement of agreements calling for the arbitration of individual claims brought under the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act, Lab. Code, § 2698 et seq., and that after such claims are sent to arbitration, the remaining non-individual PAGA claims should be dismissed for lack of statutory standing. This case presents the same issues as Viking River, and this Court should reach the same result.

PAGA actions may be novel in some ways, but after *Viking River*, it is clear they follow the ordinary rules respecting arbitration. For a time, however, California courts placed PAGA claims outside the normal operation of the FAA. *Viking River* did away with this special treatment of PAGA claims. In doing so, *Viking River* made clear that the FAA preempts the California-law joinder rule forbidding the division of PAGA claims into

individual claims and non-individual claims. After *Viking River*, parties can agree to arbitrate the individual aspects of PAGA claims (and can agree *not* to arbitrate non-individual violations that concern only other employees), and those agreements must be enforced. While California law formerly prohibited such claim-splitting under PAGA, the FAA—as interpreted in *Viking River*—overrides that rule as applied to arbitration.

The Supreme Court also addressed what happens after an individual PAGA claim has been severed and compelled to arbitration. A majority comprised of Justices Alito, Breyer, Kagan, Sotomayor, and Gorsuch concluded that, in this circumstance, a plaintiff cannot maintain non-individual PAGA claims in court after his individual PAGA claim has been sent to arbitration. As the Court explained, "[w]hen an employee's own dispute is pared away from a PAGA action, the employee is no different from a member of the general public, and PAGA does not allow such persons to maintain suit." (142 S.Ct. at p. 1925.) This, in turn, means that the plaintiff "lacks statutory standing to continue to maintain [the] non-individual claims in court, and the correct course is to dismiss [the] remaining claims." (*Ibid.*)

The Supreme Court's decision on statutory standing applied the plain language of the PAGA statute and this Court's precedent interpreting PAGA's standing requirement, and its interpretation deserves substantial deference. Both text and precedent support the Supreme Court's holding that a plaintiff like Erik Adolph lacks statutory standing to maintain non-

individual PAGA claims in court once his individual PAGA claim is compelled to arbitration.

PAGA makes a cause of action available to only a subset of people meeting particular conditions. To seek civil penalties on behalf of the State, the plaintiff must be "an aggrieved employee" who sues "on behalf of himself or herself and other current or former employees." (Lab. Code, § 2699, subd. (a), italics added.) This means that the action must concern, at least in part, a Labor Code violation allegedly suffered by the plaintiff. PAGA drives this point home by defining an "aggrieved employee" as "any person who was employed by the alleged violator and against whom one or more of the alleged violations was committed." (Id., subd. (c), italics added.)

The Legislature intentionally made "aggrieved employee" status the touchstone of PAGA's statutory standing requirement. In enacting PAGA, the Legislature sought specifically to avoid the many problems created by "general public" standing under a separate statute, the pre-Proposition 64 version of the Unfair Competition Law. Under the prior version of the UCL, anyone could sue anyone else about almost any violation of California law. The Legislature understood that such broad statutory standing had led to abusive litigation that the voters eventually rejected. So when authorizing private attorney general lawsuits to seek civil penalties for Labor Code violations, it made a conscious decision to turn the page on the failed experiment of "general public" standing. PAGA's standing requirement was drafted with this aim in mind—to ensure that a plaintiff is an

aggrieved employee with a stake in the outcome. PAGA thus precludes a plaintiff who cannot assert an individual PAGA claim in court from pursuing non-individual PAGA claims on behalf of other employees.

In short, the U.S. Supreme Court correctly interpreted PAGA's statutory-standing requirement in *Viking River*. Adolph's contrary rule not only misreads the statutory text and this Court's precedent, but also would undermine the overriding purpose of PAGA standing, which is to ensure that the State's representative has a stake in the outcome when seeking penalties on behalf of other employees. This Court should reverse and remand with instructions for the trial court to compel Adolph's individual PAGA claim to arbitration and to dismiss the non-individual PAGA claims for lack of standing.

#### STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

The trial court's preliminary injunction is appealable under Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1, subdivision (a)(6), and its denial of Uber's petition to compel arbitration is appealable under section 1294, subdivision (a).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# I. Adolph Agrees to Arbitrate Claims Related to His Use of Uber's Eats App.

Uber is a technology company that has developed the smartphone application known as the "Eats App," which connects local merchants, consumers, and independent delivery drivers to facilitate the purchase and delivery of food and drink.

(6-CT-1545, ¶¶ 4–5.) Adolph is a driver who has used the Eats

App to generate leads for his independent delivery business since March 2019. To do so, he accepted the Technology Services Agreement (the "Agreement"), which governs the relationship between Uber and drivers. (6-CT-1546–1547, ¶¶ 8, 12.)

The first page of the Agreement advised Adolph in bold, capitalized letters that it contained an arbitration agreement (the "Arbitration Provision"):

IMPORTANT: PLEASE NOTE THAT TO USE THE UBER SERVICES, YOU MUST AGREE TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET FORTH BELOW. PLEASE REVIEW THE ARBITRATION PROVISION FORTH **BELOW** IN**SECTION** CAREFULLY, AS IT WILL REQUIRE YOU TO RESOLVE DISPUTES WITH THE COMPANY ON AN INDIVIDUAL BASIS, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 15.3, THROUGH FINAL AND BINDING ARBITRATION UNLESS YOU CHOOSE TO OPT OUT OF THE ARBITRATION PROVISION .... YOU DO NOT WISH TO BE **SUBJECT** ARBITRATION, YOU MAY OPT OUT OF THE ARBITRATION PROVISION BY FOLLOWING THE **INSTRUCTIONS PROVIDED** IN THE ARBITRATION PROVISION BELOW.

(6-CT-1555.) The Arbitration Provision stated that the parties agree to submit virtually all disputes to bilateral (i.e., individual) arbitration:

This Arbitration Provision is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. (the "FAA") .... [T]his Arbitration Provision applies to any dispute, past, present or future, arising out of or related to this Agreement or formation or termination of the Agreement and survives after the Agreement terminates ....

[T]his Arbitration Provision is intended to apply to

the resolution of disputes that otherwise would be resolved in a court of law or before any forum other than arbitration .... [T]his Arbitration Provision requires all such disputes to be resolved only by an arbitrator through final and binding arbitration on an individual basis only and not by way of court or jury trial, or by way of class, collective, or representative action.

[T]his Arbitration Provision also applies to all disputes between you and the Company or Uber, as well as all disputes between You and the Company's or Uber's fiduciaries, administrators, affiliates, subsidiaries, parents, and all successors and assigns of any of them, including but not limited to any disputes arising out of or related to this Agreement and disputes arising out of or related to your relationship with the Company or Uber, including the formation or termination of the relationship.

(6-CT-1571–1572, § 15.3(i).) The Arbitration Provision contained a waiver of PAGA claims to the fullest extent permissible under law, with an accompanying severability clause:

To the extent permitted by law, you and Company agree not to bring a representative action on behalf of others under the Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, California Labor Code § 2698 et seq. ("PAGA"), in any court or in arbitration ....

If the PAGA Waiver is found to be unenforceable or unlawful for any reason, (1) the unenforceable provision shall be severed from this Arbitration Provision; (2) severance of the unenforceable provision shall have no impact whatsoever on the Arbitration Provision or the Parties' attempts to arbitrate any remaining claims on an individual basis pursuant to the Arbitration Provision; and (3) any

representative actions brought under the PAGA must be litigated in a civil court of competent jurisdiction ... . If the PAGA Waiver is found to be unenforceable or unlawful for any reason, the Parties agree that the litigation of any representative PAGA claims in a civil court of competent jurisdiction shall be stayed, pending the outcome of any individual claims in arbitration.

### (6-CT-1574, § 15.3(v).)

The Arbitration Provision afforded Adolph an unfettered right to opt out of arbitration for 30 days after accepting the Agreement simply by sending an email or letter to Uber. (6-CT-1575, § 15.3(viii).) Although thousands of drivers nationwide have exercised their right to opt out of the Arbitration Provision in the Agreement, Adolph did not. (6-CT-1547–1548, ¶¶ 12, 14.)

# II. Adolph Initiates Litigation Against Uber on Claims Arising out of His Use of the Eats App.

Notwithstanding the Arbitration Provision, Adolph filed a putative class action in October 2019, claiming that Uber misclassified delivery drivers as independent contractors and failed to reimburse their business expenses. (1-CT-47; 1-CT-52–54.) For this alleged misconduct, Adolph sought damages under Labor Code section 2802 and restitution under the UCL. (1-CT-54–55.) Uber promptly filed a petition to compel arbitration of Adolph's claims on an individual basis and to strike his class allegations pursuant to the Arbitration Provision's class action waiver. (1-CT-67–79.)

In response, Adolph amended his complaint to add a claim for civil penalties under PAGA for Uber's alleged failure to reimburse business expenses, timely pay all wages due during and upon termination of employment, guarantee overtime wage, provide accurate itemized wage statements, and maintain accurate payroll records. (1-CT-213–214.) Uber renewed its petition to compel arbitration of Adolph's claims on an individual basis. (1-CT-250–264.)

### III. The Trial Court Declines to Compel Any Aspect of the PAGA Claim to Arbitration and Enjoins Uber's Arbitration of Adolph's Individual Claims.

The trial court granted Uber's petition to compel the Labor Code and UCL claims to individualized arbitration. For those claims, Adolph did "not dispute agreeing to arbitration" or that the class action waiver was "enforceable under the FAA." (2-CT-431–432.) But "[t]he PAGA waiver [wa]s a different question," the court concluded, because a PAGA claim "belongs to the government" and thus "[a]n employee has no right to waive" it. (2-CT-432.) The court therefore compelled arbitration of Adolph's individual claims for damages and restitution and stayed the PAGA claim pending arbitration. (*Ibid.*)

Rather than proceed to arbitration, however, Adolph asked Uber to stipulate to the waiver of his individual claims under the Labor Code and UCL, so that he could litigate his PAGA claim in court straightaway. (3-CT-611, ¶ 4; 3-CT-616-617.) Uber declined to do so. (*Ibid.*) Uber submitted a demand for arbitration with JAMS in accordance with the trial court's order and the terms of the Arbitration Provision. (3-CT-611, ¶ 5; 3-CT-640-647; see also 6-CT-1573, § 15.3(iv).)

In response, Adolph moved for leave to file a second amended complaint alleging a single cause of action under PAGA and to dismiss his individual claims without prejudice to reviving them later. (2-CT-451–455.) He also sought a preliminary injunction to halt the pending arbitration that the court had just ordered. (2-CT-475–482.)

The trial court granted both motions, dismissing Adolph's individual claims without prejudice and preliminarily enjoining the pending arbitration. (5-CT-1466–1469.) Although arbitration of the original claims for damages and restitution "was permitted," the court found that the suit had since "been converted into a pure PAGA action," which "[wa]s not arbitrable." (5-CT-1469.) The court therefore concluded that Adolph was likely to "prevail[] on the issue of whether his claim is arbitrable" and that he would suffer interim harm absent injunctive relief "as arbitration of a nonarbitrable claim would be futile." (5-CT-1468–1469, cleaned up.) Uber timely appealed the order granting the preliminary injunction. (5-CT-1494.)

Meanwhile, Uber moved to compel arbitration of Adolph's alleged status as an "aggrieved employee" with standing to pursue a PAGA claim. (6-CT-1513–1669.) Uber disputed that Adolph could satisfy either the "aggrieved" or the "employee" component of the requirement. But the trial court denied Uber's motion on the grounds that the State never "consented to the arbitration of [Plaintiff's] PAGA claim," which could "[]not be split in individual arbitrable and representative nonarbitrable components." (6-CT-1734, citation omitted.) Uber again filed a

timely notice of appeal, and this appeal was consolidated with its earlier challenge to the preliminary injunction order.

(6-CT-1744.)

### IV. The Court of Appeal Affirms.

The Court of Appeal affirmed both orders. While noting that the forthcoming decision in *Viking River* could affect the outcome of the appeal, the court felt bound to "follow the rule of" *Iskanian v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles, LLC* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348 "[u]nless and until the United States Supreme Court or the California Supreme Court directly overrule[d] it." (Opn., at p. 9.) The court thus held that "despite the FAA's broad terms," Adolph's PAGA claim was "not subject to arbitration" because it "[wa]s brought on behalf of the state, which [wa]s not a signatory to the" Agreement. (*Id.* at pp. 2, 4–5.) And because a PAGA "action cannot be split into individual arbitrable and representative nonarbitrable components," the court concluded that Uber could not compel the "[t]hreshold issue[] involving whether [P]laintiff is an 'aggrieved employee'" to arbitration. (*Id.* at p. 6, citation omitted.)

### V. This Court Grants Review.

Uber timely filed a petition for review, urging the Court to consider whether PAGA claims are subject to the FAA and whether the parties may agree to arbitrate Adolph's individual status as an aggrieved employee. (Pet. for Review, at p. 10.) Following the U.S. Supreme Court's ruling in *Viking River*, this Court granted Uber's request to submit supplemental briefing addressing that decision. Uber explained that the Court of

Appeal's decision should be reversed in the wake of *Viking River*, which held that the FAA requires arbitration of Adolph's individual PAGA claim and that PAGA provides no mechanism to adjudicate standalone non-individual claims. (Uber Supp. Letter Br., at p. 1.)

In response, Adolph contended that "the *Viking River* majority misread this Court's unanimous decision in *Kim*, and therefore got its standing analysis exactly backwards." (Adolph Supp. Letter Br., at p. 2.) In his view, a PAGA plaintiff "is *not* stripped of statutory standing upon being forced to adjudicate a portion of her claim in arbitration rather than in court." (*Ibid.*) Adolph thus urged the Court to grant review to correct five Justices of the U.S. Supreme Court in their "mistaken assumption about how state law would operate." (*Id.* at p. 4.)

This Court granted review on the question whether a plaintiff's non-individual PAGA claims must be dismissed for lack of standing once his individual PAGA claim has been compelled to arbitration.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

While the decision to grant a preliminary injunction is ordinarily committed to the trial court's discretion, "the standard of review is de novo" when the decision "involves purely a question of law or statutory interpretation." (*Millennium Rock Mortgage, Inc. v. T.D. Service Co.* (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 804, 808; accord *In re Butler* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 728, 739 [de novo review for legal conclusions underpinning decision whether to modify or vacate injunction].) Where, as here, the existence of a binding

arbitration agreement is undisputed, this Court likewise "review[s] the trial court's denial of arbitration de novo." (Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn. v. Pinnacle Market Development (US), LLC (2012) 55 Cal.4th 223, 236.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

In *Viking River*, the Supreme Court overruled this Court's precedent forbidding enforcement of agreements calling for the arbitration of individual PAGA claims, ordered the plaintiff's individual PAGA claim to arbitration, and held that the remaining non-individual PAGA claims should be dismissed for lack of statutory standing. The same result is warranted here.

Like the agreement in *Viking River*, the agreement here calls for arbitration of any PAGA claim on an individual basis. Under *Viking River*, that agreement must be enforced. After the individual PAGA claim is compelled to arbitration, all that will remain in court are non-individual PAGA claims seeking civil penalties for alleged violations that occurred only to others.

Adolph lacks statutory standing under PAGA to bring such non-individual claims. As a matter of this Court's longstanding practice, the U.S. Supreme Court's decision on this issue warrants substantial deference. *Viking River* also reached the correct result, as PAGA authorizes a private-plaintiff suit for civil penalties only when "brought by an aggrieved employee *on behalf of himself or herself* and other current or former employees." (Lab. Code, § 2699, subd. (a), italics added.) A plaintiff is an aggrieved employee only when "*one or more* of the alleged violations was committed" against him. (§ 2699, subd. (c), italics

added.) After Adolph's claim is sent to arbitration, he will not be seeking in court any PAGA penalties for alleged Labor Code violations that he purportedly experienced. He simply "is no different from a member of the general public, and PAGA does not allow such persons to maintain suit." (*Viking River*, 142 S.Ct. at p. 1925.)

# I. Viking River Requires Adolph to Arbitrate His Individual PAGA Claim.

The U.S. Supreme Court held in *Viking River* that the FAA (i) applies to PAGA claims, (ii) preempts the California-law rule against severing individual PAGA claims, and (iii) requires that such claims be sent to arbitration when the parties have so agreed. The judgment below conflicts with the FAA in all three respects. (Opn., at pp. 2, 5–7.)

To begin with, the FAA applies to Adolph's PAGA claim under *Viking River*. The contractual relationship between the parties is the "but-for cause of any justiciable legal controversy." (*Viking River*, 142 S.Ct. at p. 1919, fn. 4.) Adolph necessarily accepted the Agreement before performing any work via the Eats App—work that now forms the basis of his attempt to exact PAGA penalties from Uber. (6-CT-1546–1547, ¶¶ 8, 12.) And although he could have opted out of arbitration, he chose not to.

The Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with *Viking River* because it turned on the now-abrogated rule that "a PAGA claim lies outside the FAA's coverage because it is not a dispute between an employer and an employee arising out of their contractual relationship," but rather "a dispute between the

employer and the *state*" that delegates its claim to the plaintiff. (*Iskanian*, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 386–387; see Opn., at pp. 4–5, 7.)

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