Case No. S274671

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ERIK ADOLPH,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Defendant and Appellant.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case Nos. G059860, G060198

Orange County Superior Court Case No. 30-2019-01103801 The Honorable Kirk H. Nakamura, Presiding

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Aashish Y. Desai (SBN 187394) Adrianne De Castro (SBN 238930) DESAI LAW FIRM, P.C. 3200 Bristol Ave., Suite 650 Costa Mesa, CA 92626 Telephone: (949) 614-5830 Email: aashish@desai-law.com

adrianne@desai-law.com

*Michael Rubin (SBN 80618)
Robin S. Tholin (SBN 344845)
ALTSHULER BERZON LLP

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

recovered on the state's behalf are intended to 'remediate present violations and deter future ones,' *not* to redress employees' injuries" or otherwise compensate the plaintiff or others. (*Ibid.*, citation omitted.) Any other result would erect procedural "[h]urdles that [would] impede the effective prosecution of representative PAGA actions [and thus] undermine the Legislature's objectives.' [Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 87.)

The reference in *Kim* to "general public" standing, which the Supreme Court quoted in Viking River Cruises, was to pre-Proposition 64 standing under the Unfair Competition Law (UCL), Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200. (Kim, 9 Cal.5th at p. 90.) When PAGA was enacted in 2003, UCL standing was available to anyone who chose to sue on behalf of the general public, leading to complaints of abuses. (See Angelucci v. Century Supper Club (2007) 41 Cal.4th 160, 178 fn.10.) While Uber is correct that the Legislature did not authorize such untethered "general public" standing in PAGA, neither did it impose the type of strict redressability and other Article III-like requirements that Uber would have this Court impose. Rather, the Legislature in PAGA simply required the plaintiff to allege that she was an employee of the defendant and had been aggrieved by one or more of that defendant's Labor Code violations, thus limiting the universe of potential plaintiffs to those with personal exposure to at least one challenged workplace violation. (Kim, 9 Cal.5th at p. 90, quoting Sen. Judiciary Com., Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 796 (2003-2004) Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 22, 2003, p. 7; compare Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1756, AFL-CIO v. Superior

Court (2009) 46 Cal.4th 993 [labor union lacks PAGA standing because it is not itself an "aggrieved employee"].) Nothing more was required, other than compliance with PAGA's statutory notice requirement (§ 2699.3), before the LWDA as the real party in interest could authorize that aggrieved employee to sue for PAGA civil penalties on its behalf.

This same status-based approach to PAGA standing was central to the court of appeal's decision in Johnson v. Maxim Healthcare Services, Inc. (2021) 66 Cal.App.5th 924, reh'g denied (Aug. 9, 2021), review denied (Nov. 10, 2021). The plaintiff in Johnson filed a PAGA notice with the LWDA alleging that her employment agreement included an unlawful non-compete clause in violation of Labor Code § 432.5. The plaintiff sought PAGA civil penalties for herself and other aggrieved employees who had signed similar agreements. Even though the plaintiff's own Labor Code claim was time-barred (because she had signed her agreement more than three years earlier), the Court of Appeal held she could still pursue her PAGA claims because she had been "aggrieved" by her employer's imposition and continued maintenance of the unlawful non-compete clause. (Id. at p. 929.) Citing *Kim*, the court of appeal held that even without a currently actionable Labor Code claim, "Johnson is an 'aggrieved employee' with standing to pursue her PAGA claim" because she alleged she was employed by defendant and "personally suffered at least one Labor Code violation on which the PAGA claim is based." (Id. at p. 930.) The court concluded that "the fact that Johnson's individual claim may be time-barred does not nullify

the alleged Labor Code violations nor strip Johnson of her standing to pursue PAGA remedies." (*Ibid.*)⁶

For the same reason, even if Adolph is required to arbitrate the "individual" portion of his PAGA claim for himself and the LWDA, that should not preclude him from seeking to adjudicate the rest of that claim in court, where he may continue to assert his "aggrieved employee" status unless and until there has been a final and binding determination to the contrary.

Erik Adolph alleges that he was a misclassified employee of Uber and that he personally suffered one or more of the Labor Code violations underlying his claim for PAGA penalties. Those allegations, coupled with the fact that Adolph filed a timely, legally adequate notice with the LWDA and Uber (see § 2699.3) are sufficient to establish his PAGA standing. Even if Adolph

⁶ The Court of Appeal in *Johnson* distinguished *Robinson* v. S. Counties Oil Co. (2020) 53 Cal. App. 5th 476, upon which Uber relies. (See Johnson, 66 Cal.App.5th at pp. 930–932; AOB at pp. 37–38.) The plaintiff in *Robinson* was a former employee who brought a claim for meal and rest break violations. (53) Cal.App.5th at p. 480.) Those claims were settled in a different PAGA case brought by a different plaintiff, which bound Robinson (and the LWDA). (*Id.* at p. 482.) Robinson then attempted to amend his complaint to bring a PAGA claim for post-settlement violations only. Because Robinson's own employment had terminated before any of those violations had occurred, however, he could neither allege nor prove that he had been "aggrieved" by the new violations. Consequently, Robinson lacked standing to pursue a PAGA claim based on those posttermination violations. (Id. at p. 484.) In sharp contrast, Adolph (like the plaintiff in *Johnson*) alleged he was personally aggrieved by one or more of the violations that he suffered during the limitations period applicable to his PAGA claim. Robinson is thus readily distinguishable.

PAGA claim for civil remedies (with 75% of those penalties based on Labor Code violations he personally suffered going to the LWDA), the only consequence would be that he could not then seek those same penalties when adjudicating the remainder of his representative PAGA claim in court. It certainly does not mean he was never "aggrieved" by the Labor Code violations giving rise to his PAGA claims. As this Court concluded in *Kim*, what matters for purposes of PAGA standing is the *fact* of the violation, not the continued availability of a personal remedy. (See *Kim*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 84.)

II. Uber's Interpretation of PAGA Standing Is Contrary to the Statutory Language and Inconsistent with its Purpose.

Uber does not contend that *Kim* was wrongly decided (and it does not mention *Johnson* at all). Instead, Uber seeks to distinguish *Kim* factually, on the ground that it involved a plaintiff who could no longer pursue his underlying Labor Code claim, while in this case plaintiff Adolph, once compelled to "individual" arbitration, can (according to Uber) no longer pursue in court his claim to be an "aggrieved employee." But Uber never explains *why* that should be, and there is no logical, let alone textual or contextual, reason why, even if Adolph is required to prove his aggrieved-employee status in arbitration in the first instance, he would thereafter be precluded from proceeding as an aggrieved-employee in court.

The absurdity of Uber's position is demonstrated by the scenario in which a plaintiff pursues her claim in arbitration and

prevails, thus establishing her "aggrieved employee" status. Under Uber's construction, the plaintiff in that common scenario would be barred from pursuing the remaining civil penalties available under PAGA, despite the contract language authorizing her to seek those remedies in court, even if the trial judge confirms the arbitration award in plaintiff's favor. That makes no sense.

Uber's argument that a PAGA plaintiff loses standing once she can no longer pursue a personal remedy, even if her aggrieved-employee status was adjudicated in her favor, would create a host of other anomalies as well. Imagine a case where an employee brings a PAGA claim in court based upon a series of Labor Code violations, some committed against her and some against others. (See, e.g., Huff, 23 Cal.App.5th at pp. 750–751.) Under Uber's approach, if the plaintiff seeks and obtains summary adjudication of the violations that only affected her, she would lose her statutory standing to pursue statutory remedies for those Labor Code violations committed against others. Similarly, if that plaintiff were to prevail at trial as to violations committed against her and lose as to violations committed only against others, she would have no standing to appeal the trial court's adverse ruling as to those other violations. These results—which would be the inevitable consequence if Uber's position were accepted—would effect a dramatic transformation of PAGA and significantly undercut its goal of encouraging heightened Labor Code enforcement throughout the State.

Uber's argument largely rests upon a fiction: that because a PAGA plaintiff has been compelled to pursue some remedies in arbitration and some in court, the two proceedings should be treated for PAGA standing purposes as two entirely separate and independent actions, i.e., as if the plaintiff had voluntarily chosen to file two separate claims, one denominated an "individual" PAGA action and the other denominated a "non-individual" action. But Adolph filed his PAGA claim as a single unitary action and he brought that action in his capacity as an aggrieved employee. The only reason his claims on behalf of the LWDA might potentially be split into two proceedings is because Uber, which initially sought to prohibit Adolph's PAGA claim altogether (pursuant to its contractual PAGA Waiver, 1-CT-142, § 15.3, subd. (v)), is now arguing that its arbitration agreement must be construed as requiring Adolph to pursue some PAGA remedies in court and some in arbitration. But whether the two portions of Adolph's PAGA claim proceed sequentially or in parallel (if arbitrable at all, see *infra* at Part III), they are still two parts of the same statutory claim as to which the LWDA remains the real party in interest. But for the U.S. Supreme Court's application of the FAA-preemption doctrine in *Viking* River Cruises, they would still be adjudicated in the same proceeding because, as this Court has repeatedly held, the California Legislature envisioned that PAGA claims would be unitary. (*Iskanian*, 59 Cal.4th at p. 387; *Kim*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 87.)⁷

⁷ Moreover, because arbitration awards must be judicially confirmed to be enforceable, even if a plaintiff's PAGA claim were

Uber's contention that two parts of a bifurcated PAGA proceeding must be treated as entirely independent rests upon cases interpreting the pre-1971 version of Code of Civil Procedure § 1048, which provided that "[a]n action may be severed ... in the discretion of the court, whenever it can be done without prejudice to a substantial right." (Bodine v. Superior Court (1962) 209 Cal.App.2d 354, 361; see AOB at p. 32.) According to the principal case Uber now relies upon, severance under that superseded provision had the effect of dividing a single action into two separate actions "with consequent separate judgments." (Bodine, 209 Cal.App.2d at p. 361.) Even if this case had arisen under that superseded version of Section 1048, however, the existence of separate judgments has nothing to do with standing or whether a plaintiff may assert the same facts in support of standing in two parts of a severed action. More fundamentally, Uber never explains why an otherwise indivisible PAGA action, pursued in two forums as a result of FAA preemption, should be treated like an action severed under the pre-1971 version of § 1048. (Cf. Morehart v. County of Santa Barbara (1994) 7 Cal.4th 725, 737 fn. 3 [distinguishing between "severance" under the pre-1971 version of § 1048 and "order[ing] a separate trial" under the current version].) Moreover, the previous version of § 1048 precluded severance where the consequence would be to

split in two for remedial purposes, the two parts could eventually be re-joined in court in conjunction with the parties' motions to confirm or vacate the arbitrator's award.

"prejudice a substantial right," so it would not apply to this case in any event.

The *Bodine* and *Morehart* cases provide no insight into the Legislature's intended meaning of PAGA's statutory standing provisions, including in circumstances where the remedial component of a PAGA claim has been split in two as the result of a defendant's contractual authority under a non-negotiable, boilerplate arbitration agreement, covered by the FAA, to require the plaintiff to pursue relief in two related proceedings rather than one.

Uber's assertion that the Court should treat Adolph's standing as if his initial complaint had pleaded a standalone claim for "non-individual" PAGA remedies is also unhelpful. First, it is a false hypothetical, because Adolph's PAGA complaint sought the full range of statutory civil penalties, as did his September 2019 PAGA notice to the LWDA. Second, even if Adolph had done what Uber suggests—i.e., even if he had filed his PAGA notice and subsequent lawsuit in court as an "aggrieved employee," yet for some inexplicable reason had disclaimed any interest in any statutory penalty attributable to the Labor Code violations he personally suffered—there is no reason why he could not have done so. Just as a PAGA plaintiff may decide for herself (upon proper notice to the LWDA and her employer) how broadly or narrowly to plead *which* other "aggrieved employees" allegedly suffered Labor Code violations at the hands of defendant, so should a PAGA plaintiff be entitled to disclaim any personal interest in recovering a portion of her

"individual" PAGA penalties—although that would not excuse her from having to establish her aggrieved-employee standing like every other PAGA plaintiff.

Even if Uber were correct that an FAA-covered arbitration agreement that required PAGA plaintiffs to pursue some remedies in court and some in arbitration should be treated as two separate and independent actions, Uber's challenge to Adolph's standing would still fail. While such an agreement would limit which civil penalties the plaintiff could pursue in which forum, it could not affect plaintiff's *status* as an aggrieved employee (unless and until a final judgment were entered to the contrary). As *Kim* made clear, it is plaintiff's status as an aggrieved employee, not the redressability of any injury the plaintiff may have suffered, that determines the availability of PAGA standing. Any other result would decimate, rather than further, PAGA's statutory purposes.

Uber never explains why a PAGA plaintiff could not assert his aggrieved-employee status in two different forums as a predicate for seeking statutory penalties if the parties' arbitration agreement required plaintiff to pursue different portions of those penalties in different forums. Given the Legislature's goal of achieving "maximum compliance with state labor laws" (*Arias*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 980), there should be no reason why a PAGA plaintiff could not allege (and if necessary, prove) the required elements of her claim for relief in both forums, as long as she does not seek duplicate penalties.

To the extent Uber's position has even superficial appeal, it is because throughout its brief, Uber quietly substitutes the term "pursuing civil penalties" for the term "aggrieved employee."

Nearly every time Uber makes an argument about the unfairness or impropriety of giving a PAGA plaintiff two bites of the remedial apple, it is referring to the reasons a plaintiff should not be permitted to recover the same civil penalties in two different forums (not to a plaintiff's right to assert her aggrieved-employee status in those two forums). Uber's argument thus conflates two separate and distinct concepts: the PAGA plaintiff's right to recover PAGA civil penalties based on Labor Code violations personally suffered (which the plaintiff can only seek once, in arbitration, and cannot recover again in court), and that plaintiff's status as an "aggrieved employee" for the purpose of enforcing civil penalties for violations suffered by others.8

But Adolph has *never* contended that he is entitled to double-recover "individual" PAGA penalties in arbitration and court; and nothing in PAGA, either on its face or as construed in *Kim*, requires an aggrieved-employee plaintiff to pursue "individual" remedies in a particular forum as a condition of

⁸ See, e.g., AOB at p. 23 ["a PAGA plaintiff lacks standing unless his action seeks civil penalties for violations that he allegedly suffered."]; *id.* at p. 27 ["the indispensable core of PAGA standing is *the request for civil penalties* for violations that allegedly occurred to the plaintiff," emphasis added]; *id.* at p. 30 [PAGA "makes clear that a plaintiff has standing under PAGA only when pursuing civil penalties for violations that he personally suffered,"]; *id.* at p. 35 ["PAGA standing depends on the plaintiff being able to assert an individual claim for PAGA penalties."].

establishing standing to pursue all other statutory remedies in that forum.

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